IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

State of Florida,)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	Docket No. SC01-1301
V.)	LT Case No. 77-116-CFA
)	
Bennie Demps,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER STATE OF FLORIDA

Richard T. Donelan, Jr. Chief Counsel Department of Banking and Finance 101 East Gaines Street, Suite 526 Tallahassee, FL 32399-0350 (850)410-9896 Fax: (850)410-9645

Attorney for Appellant Office of the Comptroller State of Florida

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Preliminary Statement

The following signals and abbreviations will be used in this Initial Brief:

References to the Appellant, Robert F. Milligan, Comptroller of Florida, were indicated by "Comptroller" or "Comptroller's Office" as appropriate.

References to Appellee George F. Schaefer are to "Mr. Schaefer." Mr. Schaefer's application for attorney's fees, styled "Reapplication for Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs", will be referred to as "the Reapplication." Defendant Bennie E. Demps will be referred to as "Mr. Demps."

This Court's opinion in Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1986), is central to the issues on appeal, and will be referred to as Makemson.

All references are to Florida Statutes (2001) unless otherwise indicated. References to the Amended Record on Appeal filed November 2, 2001, are signalled by "R-" and followed by the appropriate page number.

The Amended Record on Appeal fails to include either the Reapplication, filed with this Court on December 12, 2000, or the Court's Order of February 26, 2001, that transferred the Reapplication to the Eighth Judicial Circuit. These documents are on file with this court and properly subject to judicial notice in this matter. Copies of the Reapplication and Order are therefore included within an Appendix to this Initial Brief in order to avoid further delay in consideration of this

case. References to the Appendix are signalled by "A-" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On April 24, 2000, Governor Jeb Bush signed a warrant for the execution of Bennie E. Demps, originally sentenced to death in April 1978. (R-1) This case arises out of the court-appointed representation of Mr. Demps by Appellee George F. Schaefer, Esq., between May 24, 2000, and the date of Demps' execution on June 7, 2000. Mr. Schaefer, a resident of Gainesville, Florida, is a member of the Florida Bar. (R-23). Mr. Schaefer is also a member of the registry, maintained by the Commission on Capital Cases pursuant to Section 27.710, Florida Statutes, of qualified criminal lawyers in private practice who are willing to accept appointment to represent defendants in postconviction capital cases. (R-23). Mr. Schaefer was appointed as "co-counsel for appellate purposes" for Mr. Demps on May 24, 2000, by order of the Eighth Judicial Circuit Court, in conjunction with the representation of Demps during the post-death warrant period by Attorney William Braley "Bill" Salmon, also of Gainesville. (R-22-24; 110).

On July 2, 1999, Mr. Demps, acting *pro se*, filed a Request for Appointment of Counsel with the Eighth Judicial Circuit (R-8). Attorney Baya Harrison, a registry counsel, was appointed by Chief Judge Robert P. Cates on July 12, 1999, to represent Demps in connection with "certain claims pending in the circuit court pethe provisions of Section 27.711". (R-17). On August 10, 1999, Mr. Salmon, who had previously represented Demps in executive clemency proceedings, entered

a notice of appearance in the Circuit Court for the Eighth Judicial Circuit as 2 privately retained counsel for Mr. Demps. (R-17). By trial court order dated November 30, 1999, the court relieved Mr. Harrison as registry counsel and allowed Mr. Salmon to take over a sole attorney for Demps. (R-17). The order stipulated that, because Salmon was not court appointed to represent Demps under Section 27.711, Florida Statutes, he should not "look to [the Florida Commission on Capital Cases] or the State of Florida for the payment of his fees. . .". (R-17).

Mr. Salmon then undertook to represent Demps in Rule 3.850 proceedings based on a "Motion to Vacate and Set Aside Judgment and Sentence and Grant New Trial" filed by Demps on July 2, 1999. After the death warrant was signed, a "Hough" hearing concerning the 3.850 motion was held on May 12, 2000, before Chief Judge Cates. (R-2). Thereafter, on May 22, 2000, Judge Cates entered an "Order Denying Fourth Successive Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence." (R-2-7).

That same day, May 22, 2000, Bennie Demps, again acting *pro se*, filed with this Court a handwritten "Motion for Relief, Continuance, and Stay of Execution"; the Motion sought the appointment of new counsel, asserting, *inter alia*, that Mr. Salmon was retained only for circuit court proceedings as to the 3.850 Motion, and not for appeal proceedings. (R-19-21). By Order dated May 23, 2000, Demps'

request for the appointment of new counsel to represent him in this Court was denied "on the grounds that Bennie Demps is represented by William Braley Salmon, P.O. Box 1096, Gainesville, Florida." (R-15).

The next day, May 24, 2000, the Office of Attorney General filed both in this Court and in the Eighth Judicial Circuit a written "Request for Clarification as to Representation of Appellant [Demps] by William Salmon on Appeal".(R-10-21). In this pleading, the Attorney General raised the question of whether Attorney Salmon was under an ethical obligation to continue to represent Demps, especially since Demps' execution was then scheduled for May 31, 2000--one week later. The Attorney General specifically requested that this Court "clarify" that Mr. Salmon was to represent Demps in connection with the appeal of the trial court's denial of the 3.850 motion. (R-12).

That same day, May 24, 2000, Judge Stan Morris of the Eighth Judicial Circuit, acting in the absence from the jurisdiction of Chief Judge Cates, issued an "Order Appointing Co-Counsel For Capital Post-Conviction Relief." (R-22-24). The order stated, in pertinent part:

[T]he Court is aware that a motion for post-conviction relief was denied on May 22, 2000, and a motion for rehearing was denied on May 23, 2000. The Court is not aware, however, of the perfection of those matters for appeal to the Florida Supreme Court by current post-conviction counsel, William B. Salmon. The Court is concerned that confusion over counsel's status may

unnecessarily delay consideration of the appeal of those issues in light of a current warrant directing execution of the defendant BENNIE E. DEMPS on May 31, 2000. (R-22).

The Court stated its reason for appointing Mr. Schaefer to represent Demps:

[I]n order to protect defendant BENNIE E. DEMPS's right to counsel under Florida Statute 925.035 [sic], which ensures post-conviction representation for capital defendants, this Court hereby appoints co-counsel for appellate purposes in this case. (R-22).

Finally, in reliance upon Mr. Schaefer's status as a registry lawyer, the Court ordered:

George F. Schaefer, a member of the Florida Bar, whose application has been filed and accepted with the Commission [on Capital Cases] is hereby appointed co-counsel for defendant BENNIE E. DEMPS in Case No. 77-116-CFA. (R-23) (emphasis added).

On May 25, 2001, notwithstanding Mr. Schaefer's appointment the day before, Bennie Demps filed a *pro se* Notice of Appeal as to the denial of his 3.850 motion. (R- 25). Also on May 25, 2000, this Court entered an Order directing that appellate briefs be filed on May 27, 2000; the Order was amended specifically to provide that simultaneous briefs would be filed by the State and Bill Salmon. (R-26-27). That same day, May 25, 2000, Schaefer filed with Judge Morris an "Emergency Application for Stay of Execution and Alternative Motion to Withdraw By Court-Appointed Counsel." (R-28-44). In this pleading, Mr. Schaefer argued for a stay of execution to allow him time to prepare for appellate activity, or if, no

extension was forthcoming, to allow him to withdraw "immediately." (R-28).

Following an expedited hearing on the afternoon of May 25, 2000, a stay was refused and Schaefer was denied leave to withdraw. Noting that the execution of Mr. Demps was scheduled for May 31, 2000, Judge Morris's order found, in pertinent part:

[D]efendant is still represented by co-counsel Salmon as well as George Schaefer. Salmon has represented that it is his intention to file appropriate pleadings to perfect the appeal of the trial court's denial of the motion for post conviction relief. . . .

This Court has declined to pass on the merits of the stay because Salmon, post-conviction counsel, has full knowledge of all facts and circumstances necessary to fully and fairly present Defendant's position on review of these matters by the Supreme Court, if that court should deem such review appropriate.

The Court has declined to allow co-counsel George Schaefer to withdraw without passing on the merits of whether or not a just resolution of the case would compel a stay if Schaefer were the only counsel representing Defendant.

(R-45-46).

Schaefer renewed his motion to withdraw as counsel to this Court, where it was denied by order entered on Saturday, May 27, 2000. (R-49). The Court's Order of May 27, 2000, extended the time for the filing of the Defendant's brief "submitted by **Bill Salmon**" until June 1, 2000; set oral argument for June 5, 2000; and rescheduled the execution of Defendant Demps for June 7, 2000. (R-49)

(boldface in original). The Order concluded, stating: "Counsel for appellant shall submit applications for fees and costs to this Court at the conclusion of their representation of Bennie Demps in this Court." (R-49).

Time records submitted by Mr. Schaefer disclose that during the period May 28-June 4, 2000, he performed the following legal services on behalf of Mr. Demps: Mr. Schaefer traveled to Tallahassee from Gainesville to obtain and review archival records; traveled to Starke for client conferences; participated in a series of conferences with Mr. Salmon and other counsel; performed legal research; prepared and reviewed arguments for the brief to be submitted by Mr. Salmon to this Court; and prepared an original action for submission to this Court, a Petition for Mandamus. On June 4, he traveled to Tallahassee to attend oral argument in this Court the next day. (A-8-14).

On June 5, 2000, oral argument was held. Mr. Schaefer appeared and argued his Petition for Mandamus in conjunction with Mr. Salmon's presentation of the appellate issues contained in the Demps brief. Later that day, the Court issued an order denying relief. Demps v. State, 761 So.2d 302 (Fla. 2000). The Petition for Mandamus was denied as "without merit." Id., at 306. Following the entry of the order, Mr. Schaefer filed an "Emergency Motion for Stay of Execution Pending Application for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court." (R-51-53).

The "Emergency Motion" was denied by the Court on June 6, 2000. (R-54).

Following the execution of Defendant Demps on June 7, 2000, Mr. Schaefer filed an application for attorney's fees and costs in this Court; copies were served on the Office of Attorney General and the State Attorney for the Eighth Judicial Circuit, but no copy was provided to the Office of Comptroller. After being directed by this Court's Order of July 17, 2000, to respond to the applications of both Schaefer and Salmon, on August 10, 2000, the Office of Comptroller filed its Response. (R- 55-72.).

In responding to Mr. Schaefer's application, the Office of Comptroller suggested that, although Judge Morris's order of May 24, 2000, referenced Section 925.035, Florida Statutes, it was probably intended that appointment be made under Section 27.710, Florida Statutes, especially in a capital case. (R-56). Under the assumptions that Chapter 27, Part IV, was applicable, and that Mr. Schaefer was familiar with the fee limitations of the Chapter (R-57; 67-70), four criticisms were raised with this Court.

First, noting that Schaefer had requested attorney fees at the rate of \$200 per hour, the Response stated: "These fees are set at \$100 per hour by §\$27.703 and 27.711, Fla. Stat. (1999)." (R-57). Second, the Response suggested that Schaefer's total claim for \$26, 180 in fees exceeded the \$25,000 maximum set forth

in §27.711(4) Florida, Statutes (1999). (R-57-58). Third, the Response questioned undocumented charges relative to approximately 3,500 pages of photocopies. (R-58).

Finally, the forth point of the Comptroller's Response stated as follows:

Schaefer failed to contract with the Office of the Comptroller as required by § 27.710(4), Fla. Stat. (1999). Because exigent circumstances may have existed at the time of Schaefer's appointment, the Office of the Comptroller is inclined to waive that failure. However, after the case Schaefer also failed to comply with the billing procedures set forth in Section 16 of CS/HB 1-A, Second Engrossed, Spec. Session (2000) (enacted), which failure cannot be justified or excused on the basis of exigent circumstances.

(R-59). In its conclusion, the Response specifically asked this Court to enter an order paying Mr. Schaefer's fees and costs but further asked the Court "to abide by limits on payments set forth in §§ 27.710 and 27.711, Fla. Stat. (1999), for such awards. . . . " (R-64).

On November 15, 2000, the Court, upon consideration of Schaefer's application for fees and costs, entered an Order directing Messrs. Schaefer and Salmon "to submit the appropriate documents to the Office of the Comptroller in conformity with Part IV, Chapter 27, Florida Statutes (1999)." (R-73). After review of the revised application submitted on November 21, 2000, by Mr. Schaefer, the acting General Counsel to the Comptroller, replied with a letter dated December 8, 2000, regarding the application. (A-5-6).

The Comptroller raised three objections to the Schaefer application. First, Schaefer's claim for 130.9 hours of fees at \$200 per hour was deemed to conflict with the \$100/hr limitation of Sections 27.703 and 27.711, Florida Statutes. (A-5). Second, the reasonableness of Schaefer's claim for \$657.72 worth of photocopies was questioned. (A-5). Third, it was noted that Mr. Schaefer had failed to submit any billing covering the activities of his co-counsel, Mr. Salmon, in contravention of Section 27.710(6), Florida Statutes. (A-6).

Without responding to the Comptroller as to the letter of December 8, 2000, Mr. Schaefer, on December 12, 2000, filed with this Court a "Reapplication for Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs." ("the Reapplication") (A-1-20). Schaefer renewed his claim for \$27, 310.59 in costs and fees. He asserted that he was not bound by the \$100 per hour fee limit for registry counsel like himself, stating: "[U]ndersigned counsel . . . was appointed to represent Mr. Demps while Mr. Demps was under a death warrant and this court has the inherent authority under the Florida Constitution to award a reasonable amount of attorney's fees to court-appointed counsel in such extraordinary circumstances." (A-2). Schaefer claimed his copying charges were reasonable. (A-3). He admitted not filing for fees attributable to the labors of Mr. Salmon, but asserted that Salmon's claims for fees were "independent of this application. (A-3).

Thereafter, by Order dated February 26, 2001, this Court transferred Mr. Schaefer's "Reapplication" to the Eighth Judicial Circuit Court "for evaluation pursuant to Chapter 27, Fla. Stat.(1999)." (A-22). On March 13, 2001, a nonevidentiary hearing--noticed by Mr. Schaefer for 15 minutes--was held in Gainesville before Judge Larry G. Turner. (R-89-120). No witnesses were heard, and only argument of counsel was presented. Counsel for the Comptroller and the Office of Attorney General appeared by telephone. (R-91).

Mr. Schaefer offered two arguments in favor of receiving payment at the rate of \$200 per hour for his representation of Demps. First, he suggested that the Comptroller had "waived an argument" that the trial court was limited to the \$100 per hour rate set by law "because in 27.710 the Comptroller's Office has an obligation to prepare a contract for the attorney," and had not done so for him. (R-101). The second argument offered was that the trial court had inherent authority under the Makemson decision to pay him at the rate he requested. Schaefer suggested to the court why this authority applied:

[T]rial courts have inherit [sic] power in extraordinary and unusual cases to depart from fee guidelines when it's necessary to defend the accused and that really is the situation here, Your Honor. We have an accused under a death warrant. There were--it was an extraordinary situation . . .(R-102)

The Comptroller's counsel urged the trial court to apply Section 27.711,

Florida Statutes, and simply reminded the court:

The Comptroller does not have the authority to pay Mr. Schaefer under Section 925. The only authority that we have to pay Mr. Schaefer is under 27 and that that Section 27.711 sets the rate we can pay to \$100 an hour. (R- 103).

The trial court then ruled from the bench that "the <u>Makemson</u> decison of our Supreme Court controls." (R-111). The court went on to find:

I find as a matter of fact that Mr. Schaefer has served the public by defending Mr. Demps and, frankly, the integrity of the legal system. I find as of fact that to compensate Mr. Schaefer at a rate of less than a matter \$200 an hour would be confiscatory of his time, energy and talents, and I quite honestly think that \$200 an hour is on the low end of reasonable compensation for the work performed and under the circumstances it was performed. I find to apply the statute any other way and limit him to \$100 an hour under the statute would be unconstitutional as applied under these circumstances and I'll thus authorize payment of Mr. Schaefer at the rate of \$200 an hour as he has requested. (R-111-112).

The trial court then announced:

[P]ursuant to Section 27.710 (4), Florida Statutes, the Comptroller's Office and the State of Florida through the Comptroller's Office has waived its right to challenge the fees there bing no evidence that they met the requirements of that statute. (R-112).

On May 3, 2001, the trial court rendered the order on review: "Final Order on George F. Schaefer's Reapplication for Award of Attorney's Fees." (R- 77-81). On May 16, 2001, the Comptroller filed a timely Notice of Appeal (R-82) and this Appeal ensued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The order on appeal clearly departs from the essential requirements of Florida law relating to the payment of fees to private attorneys in death penalty cases. Without substantial factual justification, the order on review spurns the Florida Legislature's express prescription, set forth in Section 27.711, Florida Statutes, for compensating such attorneys by ordering payment for the legal services of registry counsel George F. Schaefer at \$200 per hour instead of the \$100 per hour rate fixed by law.

The order on review exceeded the jurisdictional authority of the trial court by failing to apply the "law of the case" in this matter: the trial court did not evaluate the Schaefer fee application under Chapter 27. This Court determined on remand to the trial court that Mr. Schaefer should be paid at the statutory rate for registry counsel under part IV of Chapter 27, Florida Statutes. This determination, as a matter of traditional appellate law, pretermitted the discretionary authority of the trial court to rule otherwise in the context of this case.

The order on review expresses plain legal error as to the applicability of Chapter 27, Part IV to the services of registry counsel. Based on no evidentiary

support whatsoever, and in derogation of the record to the contrary, the order erroneously finds that the State of Florida, through the Comptroller, has "waived" the right to require compliance with the provisions of Chapter 27, Part IV, by registry counsel Schaefer. The Comptroller could not lawfully have waived the applicability of Chapter 27, Florida Statutes, in the case of a registry attorney whose representation of a death sentenced inmate lasted only two weeks. The order's conclusion of law that an *involuntary* "waiver" of the applicability of Chapter 27 was committed by the Comptroller is inequitable and contrary to the record in this case.

Finally, the trial court's reliance on this Court's <u>Makemson</u> decision is misplaced, and generates a constitutional conundrum. Section 27.711 's statutory definition of Mr. Schaefer's hourly State compensation under Chapter 27 guidelines is objectively sustainable. It is a constitutionally permitted definition by the Legislature of State spending authority. It is not directly comparable to the arbitrary maximum fee limit at issue in <u>Makemson</u>. By ruling the statute unconstitutional "as applied" to Mr. Schaefer, however, the trial court has effectively invalidated Section 27.711, Florida statutes on its face. By so doing, the order on review obliterates a meaningful constitutional distinction previously maintained by this Court. This court has allowed trial courts to grant relief from

statutory maximum fee caps in extraordinary circumstances involving unusual representation. The <u>Makemson</u> rationale does not allow allow a statutory enactment to be declared facially unconstitutional simply because a capital case is involved, as the trial court erroneously declared here. There is only one option open to the Court which will avoid the constitutional collision inherent in approving the facial invalidation of an otherwise valid statue dealing with compensation for public service: to reject the trial court's extension of the <u>Makemson</u> rationale to invalidate the statutory rate fixed for Chapter 27, Part IV, Florida Statutes.

ARGUMENT

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