SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	CASE NO.: SC01-1301		
Appellant, CFA	Lower Tribunal No.: 77-0116		
VS.			
BENNIE DEMPS,			
Appellee.			

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, STARKE, BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

GEORGE F. SCHAEFER

Attorney-at-law 2830 N.W. 41st St., Suite D Gainesville, FL 32606-6667 (352) 338-1111

Fax: (352) 372-7777 Florida Bar No. 308870

FL Bar No.:308870AK Bar No.:8106049CA Bar No.:139399DC Bar No.:366423VA Bar No.:23632

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE DEMPS

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	CASE NO.: SC01-1301
Appellant,	Lower Tribunal No.: 77-0116-CFA
vs.	
BENNIE DEMPS,	
Appellee.

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For the reasons stated in the appellee's motion to dismiss, this court does not have jurisdiction to entertain the Comptroller's appeal. If this court disagrees, the arguments of registry counsel can be summarized as follows.

The Comptroller's contention that this court's order transferring the fees issue to the lower court precluded a challenge to the statutory cap on attorney's fees in the registry law is completely without merit. The Comptroller claims that the "law of the case" doctrine required the lower tribunal to adhere to the statutory cap. The appellee relies on this court's holding in Florida Department of Transportation v. Juliano, 801 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 2001) in opposition to this argument. This court did not address whether the registry statutory caps are enforceable in this case and this court's transfer order cannot be characterized as a decision in a prior appeal which is a prerequisite to application of the law of the case doctrine.

The Comptroller's argument that under the registry statute it was registry counsel's duty to execute a contract is not supported by traditional rules of statutory construction. The plain and unambiguous language of the registry law replaces the obligation on the Comptroller to develop the form of the contract, function of contract manager, and enforce performance of the terms. The Comptroller's complete failure to even offer a contract to registry counsel is fatal to

enforcement of the statutory caps. To hold otherwise would render significant portions of the registry law meaningless.

And finally, the Comptroller's request that this court reject the trial court's extension of the Makemson rationale to the registry law has already been rejected by this court's holding in Olive v. Maas, 2002 Fla. LEXIS 219, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S139 (Fla. February 14, 2002). The Comptroller has simply failed to demonstrate that the trial court clearly abused its discretion in awarding attorney's fees in excess of the statutory cap. The unrefuted affidavits tendered by registry counsel at the evidentiary hearing constitute competent and substantial evidence to support the trial court's award.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. INTRODUCTION

After the initial brief of the Comptroller was filed in this court, the appellee filed a motion to dismiss the Comptroller's appeal for lack of jurisdiction. At the time of the filing of this answer brief, this court has not ruled on the motion to dismiss. This answer brief is submitted subject to the appellee's jurisdictional objections. The appellee's counsel, George F. Schaefer, remains adamant that this court lacks jurisdiction at this time to review the trial court's order awarding attorney's fees and costs for the reasons stated in the motion to dismiss which are incorporated by reference.

The Comptroller in the initial brief has framed each issue in an argumentative fashion. The appellee has chosen to restate the issues. Because the three issues presented by the Comptroller are really separate and distinct and not just subparts one main issue, the appellee has also elected to treat each issue separately in this answer brief.

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An award of attorney's fees is a matter committed to the sound judicial discretion of the trial court which will not be disturbed on appeal, absent a showing of clear abuse of discretion. <u>DiStefano Construction</u>, <u>Inc. v. Fidelity and Deposit</u>

Company of Maryland, 597 So. 2d 248, 251 (Fla. 1992) citing Lucas v. Evans, 453 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) and 3 Fla. Jur. 2d Appellate Review §339 (1978). *See also* Afrazeh v. Miami Elevator Co. of America, 769 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2000). An appellate court may not substitute its judgment on findings of fact pertaining to a fee's award that are supported by competent, substantial evidence. Moore v. Excal Enterprises, Inc., 769 So. 2d 1062 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000) citing First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of the Palm Beaches v. Bezotte, 740 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), *review denied*, 753 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 2000).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED

ISSUE I (RESTATED)

DID THIS COURT'S TRANSFER ORDER PRECLUDE THE LOWER COURT FROM AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES IN EXCESS OF THE \$100.00 STATUTORY CAP FOUND AT \$\$27.703 AND 27.711, FLA. STAT. (1999) BECAUSE OF THE "LAW OF THE CASE" DOCTRINE?

The appellee agrees with the Comptroller that Mr. Schaefer is a member of the registry of counsel maintained by the Commission on Capital Cases pursuant to §27.710, Fla. Stat. and that Mr. Schaefer was appointed as cocounsel for Mr. Demps because he was a registry counsel. The appellee disagrees, however, with the Comptroller's claim that this court's order of February 26, 2001 transferring the

attorney's fees issue to the trial court for resolution precluded the trial court from awarding attorney's fees in excess of \$100.00 an hour because of the "law of the case" doctrine.

Before this court rendered its transfer order, neither party was afforded the opportunity to brief the legal issues presented in this appeal. Thus, the enforceability of the statutory caps on attorney's fees was never a question of law actually decided by this court in this particular case. The appellee relies upon this court's recent decision in Florida Department of Transportation v. Juliano, 801 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 2001) on this issue.

In <u>Juliano</u> this court clarified the differences between the doctrine of *res judicata* and law of the case, and stated in pertinent part:

As to the scope of the law of the case doctrine, this Court in <u>U.S. Concrete</u>, 437 So. 2d at 1063, explained that the doctrine is "limited to rulings on questions of law actually presented and considered on a former appeal." (Emphasis supplied.) *See also* Two M. Dev. Corp. v. Mikos, 578 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). By reaffirming the principle articulated in earlier decisions that the law of the case doctrine is limited to questions of law actually presented and considered on a former appeal, <u>U.S. Concrete</u> was consistent with prior cases from this Court. *See*, *e.g.*, <u>Greene</u>, 384 So. 2d at 28; <u>Strazzulla</u>, 177 So. 2d at 3; <u>Finston v. Finston</u>, 160 Fla. 935, 37 So. 2d 423, 424 (Fla. 1948). Additionally, the law of the case doctrine may foreclose subsequent consideration of issues implicitly addressed or necessarily considered by the appellate court's decision. *See* <u>Dade County Classroom Teachers' Ass'n v. Rubin</u>, 238 So. 2d 284, 289 (Fla. 1970); <u>Dicks v. Jenne</u>, 740 So. 2d 576, 578 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

A corollary of the law of the case doctrine is that a lower court is not precluded from passing on issues that "have not necessarily been determined and become law of the case." <u>Greene</u>, 384 So. 2d at 27. As stated in <u>Wilder v. Punta Gorda State Bank</u>, 100 Fla. 517, 129 So. 865, 866 (1930), the law of the case doctrine "has no applicability to, and is not decisive of, points presented upon a second writ of error that were not presented upon a former writ of error and consequently were not before the appellate court for adjudication."

Juliano, 801 So. 2d at 106.

This court's transfer order merely directed the trial court to evaluate Mr.

Schaefer's fees application "for evaluation pursuant to Chapter 27, Florida Statutes (1999)." It was not a decision rendered on appeal. Whether the Chapter 27 statutory caps on attorney's fees were enforceable in this case is clearly not an issue that has necessarily been determined by this court's mere transfer order.

ISSUE II (RESTATED)

DID THE TRIAL **COURT** ERR IN **ITS** DETERMINATION THAT THE **STATE** OF FLORIDA FAILED TO SUBMIT ANY EVIDENCE \mathbf{AT} THE **EVIDENTIARY** HEARING **OF** COMPLIANCE WITH §27.710(4), FLA. STAT. (1999) AND THEREFORE WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO CHALLENGE AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES IN EXCESS OF THE \$100.00 STATUTORY CAP FOUND AT §§27.703 AND 27.711, FLA. STAT.?

At the evidentiary hearing, the Comptroller's contract manager and attorney were uncertain on whether the standard contract called for under §27.710(4), Fla. Stat., was sent to Mr. Schaefer. (I, 106-107). The Comptroller's attorney thought that a contract had been mailed, but conceded that he had no information that Mr. Schaefer was ever even asked to sign a contract. (II, 107). The Comptroller now belatedly admits in the Comptroller's initial brief that no contract was ever signed. (Comptroller's initial brief at page 24).

Nevertheless, the Comptroller insists that the trial court committed reversible error in its finding that the "State of Florida has waived its right to challenge the requested fees because of its failure to submit at the hearing any evidence of compliance with §27.710(4), Fla. Stat." (I, 79). The Comptroller now argues for the first time on appeal that the nonexistence of a contract is essentially Mr. Schaefer's fault. The Comptroller in the initial brief states, "Section 27.710(4) places on the *counsel* who accepts employment the duty of executing a contract with the Comptroller." (Emphasis supplied). (Comptroller's initial brief at page 24). The Comptroller reasons that because registry counsel has duty to execute a contract, the trial court was bound to adhere to the statutory hourly attorney's fees cap of \$100.00.

What makes this argument particularly dubious is this court's recent judicial finding in Olive v. Maas, 2002 Fla. LEXIS 219, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S139, S144 n. 4 (Fla. February 14, 2002) that the Comptroller's standard registry contract is "a legally questionable contract." Traditional rules of statutory construction also do not support the Comptroller's position.

First, when the words of a statute are plain and unambiguous and convey a definite meaning, courts are not permitted to resort to rules of construction. The courts must instead read the statute as written, because to do otherwise would constitute an abrogation of legislative power. Nicoll v. Baker, 668 So. 2d 989, 991 (Fla.1996) citing Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1984). See also Savona v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 648 So. 2d 705, 707 (Fla. 1995); Weber v. Dobbins, 616 So. 2d 956, 958 (Fla. 1993); and Forsythe v. Longbeat Key Erosion Control District, 604 So. 2d 452, 454 (Fla. 1992). The statute in question is clearly plain and unambiguous that it is the Comptroller, not registry counsel, who has the obligation to develop and manage the contract. The statute provides:

Each private attorney who is appointed by the court to represent a capital defendant must enter into a contract with the Comptroller. If the appointed attorney fails to execute the contract within 30 days after the date the contract is mailed to the attorney, the executive director of the Commission on Capital Cases shall notify the trial court. The Comptroller shall develop the form of the contract, function as contract manager, and enforce performance of the terms and

conditions of the contract. By signing such contract, the attorney certifies that he or she intends to continue the representation under the terms and conditions set forth in the contract until the sentence is reversed, reduced, or carried out or until released by order of the trial court.

§27.710(4), Fla. Stat. (1999). (Emphasis added). Under the statute, it is the duty of the Comptroller to present and make sure a contract is signed by registry counsel. It is impractical, if not absurd, to expect registry counsel to solicit a contract limiting their fees in a capital case to an amount grossly below market rates.

The Comptroller's suggested interpretation of the registry law also violates another fundamental rule of statutory construction that courts should avoid readings that would render part of the statute meaningless. <u>Unruh v. State</u>, 669 So. 2d 242, 245 (Fla. 1996) quoting <u>Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control District</u>, 604 So. 2d at 456. Statutes should be construed to give each word effect. <u>Christo v. State</u>, <u>Department of Banking and Finance</u>, 649 So. 2d 318, 321 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) citing <u>Gretz v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Comm'n</u>, 572 So. 2d 1384 (Fla. 1991). Under the Comptroller's construction of the statute, if adopted, the phrase, "By signing such contract" would be meaningless because an attorney would be obligated to follow the terms and conditions set forth in the contract, which track the statute, even when the attorney does not sign the contract.

Another provision of this statute that would be rendered meaningless if the Comptroller's construction were to be adopted by this court is the requirement that the executive director of the Commission on Capital Cases must notify the trial court within 30 days of the failure of the registry attorney to execute the contract. Why would the legislature require such notice to the trial court if it does not matter whether the attorney has signed the contract? Indeed, the Comptroller's position begs the question: If it makes no difference whether the registry attorney signs the contract in order for the statutory caps to apply, why have a contract in the first place?

The Comptroller simply dropped the ball at the inception of in this case.

Faced with the Comptroller's failure to comply with the registry law, the trial court awarded attorney's fees based solely upon affidavits presented by registry counsel which was not objected to by opposing counsel. The Comptroller's silence at the evidentiary hearing and lack of objection constituted acquiescence in the handling of the attorney's fee issue by affidavit and therefore the trial court's award of attorney's fees based on the affidavits was not an abuse of discretion.

See Insurance Co. of North America v. Julien P. Benjamin Equipment Co., 481 So. 2d 511, 514 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). See also Saussy v. Saussy, 560 So. 2d 1385, 1386 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990). The affidavits of Mr. Schaefer, time records, and two

affidavits of qualified local counsel (see appendix) are competent as substantial evidence to support the trial court's award in the absence of <u>any</u> evidence submitted at the hearing by the Comptroller, including a contract.

ISSUE III (RESTATED)

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS FINDING THAT UNDER THE HOLDING AND ANALYSIS OF MAKEMSON V. MARTIN COUNTY, 491 SO. 2D 1109 (FLA. 1986), THE \$100.00 STATUTORY HOURLY CAP FOUND AT §§27.703 AND 27.711, FLA. STAT. AS APPLIED IN THIS CAPITAL CASE, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

At the evidentiary hearing, registry counsel argued to the trial court that the statutory hourly rate cap of \$100.00 is unconstitutional as applied to the extraordinary circumstances of this case under the holding and analysis of Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1986). The trial court agreed and found this cap unconstitutional as applied. The Comptroller on appeal in the initial brief states:

There is only one option open to the Court which will avoid the constitutional collision inherent in approving the facial invalidation of an otherwise valid statute dealing with compensation for public service: to reject the trial court's extension of the <u>Makemson</u> rationale to invalidate the statutory rate fixed for Chapter 27, Part IV, Florida Statutes.

Comptroller's initial brief at page 39. After the Comptroller filed the initial brief, this court rendered its opinion in Olive v. Maas, 2002 Fla. LEXIS 219, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S139 (Fla. February 14, 2002). In Olive this court examined the legislative history of §§27.710 and 27.711, Fla. Stat. (1999) and recounted the legislative history as follows:

Respondents candidly conceded during oral arguments that <u>Makemson</u>, <u>White</u>, and <u>Remeta</u> were applicable to the present case and that, accordingly, in capital cases where extraordinary or unusual circumstances exist, trial courts are authorized to award fees in excess of the statutory schedule set out in section 27.711(4). That <u>Makemson</u> and its progeny control this issue is expressly noted in a staff analysis forming part of the legislative history of section 27.711. Specifically, the Staff Analysis to SB 2054, which ultimately became chapter 99-221, Laws of Florida, amending sections 27.710 and 27.711, indicates the following under the heading "Other Constitutional Issues:"

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